12-15-2023 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case Nos. 2023AP1229; 2023AP1230; 2023AP1231; 2023AP1232

In re the termination of parental rights to N.H., A.R.H., M.H.H., M.R.M.K., persons under the age of 18:

JACKSON COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

R.H.H.,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SUSAN E. ALESIA Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1000752

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1774 alesias@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Is partial summary judgment appropriate when one of the conditions for visitation is impossible to meet?

The circuit court granted partial summary judgment to the county on the continuing denial of periods of physical placement or visitation ground, rejecting the father's argument that the conditions were impossible for him to meet. (103; App.65-80).

The court of appeals held that partial summary judgment was appropriate because the unfitness finding was not based solely on an impossible return condition but also on the failure to meet other attainable conditions. *Jackson County DHS v. R.H.H.*, Nos. 2023AP1229, 2023AP1230, 2023AP1231, 2023AP1232, slip op. ¶35 (Wis. Ct. App. November 16, 2023) (App.3-28).

2. Was the circuit court's admission and reliance on a more than decade-old assessment an improper consideration at disposition?

The circuit court overruled the father's objection and admitted the report, noting "well, based on what I heard, it sounds like his opinion wouldn't change for the next 40 years, so." (161:95; App.89).

The court of appeals held that the circuit court did not erroneously exercise its discretion in admitting the report. (App.3-28).

Case 2023AP001229 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 4 of 27

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

The circuit court granted the county's motion for partial summary judgment on the termination of parental rights ground of continuing denial of physical placement or visitation. Wis. Stat. § 48.415(4). In the circuit court and on appeal, the father argued that this partial summary judgment violated his substantive due process rights because one of the conditions for visitation was impossible to meet. The court of appeals held that even if one condition is impossible for a parent to meet, the termination remains valid if it "is also based on failure to meet other conditions that were attainable." Jackson County DHS v. R.H.H., Nos. 2023AP1231, 2023AP1229, 2023AP1230, 2023AP1232, slip op. at ¶35 (Wis. Ct. App. November 16, 2023) (App.3-28).

This court should accept review and hold that it is a violation of a parent's substantive due process rights when the government imposes any impossible condition for visitation.

The court of appeals in this case applied Kenosha County DHHS v. Jodie W., 2006 WI 93, 293 Wis.2d 530, 716 N.W.2d 845, in a way that permits the county to impose impossible conditions on parents. In Jodie W., the county imposed a condition requiring the mother to provide suitable housing for her son. The mother was incarcerated, making this an impossible condition. This court concluded that basing a finding of unfitness solely on an impossible condition of return violated the mother's constitutional rights. Id. at ¶56.

In this case, the court of appeals held that "the holding in *Jodie W*. is inapplicable in situations like this, in which the finding of unfitness was based on the

Case 2023AP001229 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 5 of 27

parent's failure to meet multiple conditions and there is no argument that it was based solely on an impossible condition." Slip op. at ¶31 (App.17-18). The problem with this reasoning is simple: if one condition is impossible for a parent to meet, the parent can never satisfy the conditions for visitation. Regardless of how the parent addresses the other conditions, the parent would still fail due to the one impossible condition. It's analogous to telling a child she can have a new toy if she meets four conditions: (1) eats all of her vegetables; (2) keeps her room clean; (3) gets all As in school; and (4) learns how to fly. The motivation to meet the first three conditions is wholly undermined by the impossibility of meeting the fourth condition. Yet this is exactly the standard the court of appeals has applied to parents facing the termination of their parental rights.

The court of appeals application of *Jodie W*. means that the county can intentionally set an impossible condition and successfully terminate a parent's rights. This court should take a close look at the implications of such a ruling and accept review to reinvigorate the intent of *Jodie W*. and protect parents from this kind of governmental overreach.

A ruling on this issue will help clarify and harmonize the law in termination of parental rights cases. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c). Because this claim raises an issue of constitutional due process, a decision also implicates real and significant questions of constitutional law. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a).

If the court grants review, it should also resolve the remaining issue set forth in the petition, as this issue was litigated in the circuit court and on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from an order terminating Ryan's parental rights to his four children. (137; App.29-37). Although Ryan requested a jury trial, the circuit court found him unfit and subsequently terminated his parental rights after granting the county's motion for summary judgment on the continuing denial of periods of visitation ground in Wis. Stat. § 48.415(4). (103; App.65-80). The circuit court's grant of summary judgment is the focus of Ryan's appeal although Ryan also raises a challenge to the disposition.

Ryan's case has a complicated procedural history. A multitude of errors led to the county's failed initial attempt at terminating Ryan's parental rights. First, a CHIPS (child in need of protection and/or services) dispositional order in 2011 containing the conditions for return of the children did not contain the required written TPR (termination of parental rights) warning. (90:1). In 2013, Ryan's conviction in Ashland County led to an order suspending all contact between Ryan and the children. This order contained the TPR warnings but it failed to include the conditions. (90:2). In 2016, a new order was entered that contained the conditions but did not contain the TPR warnings. Id. Later in 2016, after Ryan was sentenced in the Ashland County case, the circuit court entered an order that modified the conditions and also included the TPR warnings. (90:2-3). The following year, Ryan was released from prison when his Ashland County

¹ Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(1)(g), R.H.H. will be referred to by a pseudonym, Ryan.

² Counsel will refer to the record in 2023AP1229 unless otherwise indicated.

conviction was reversed on appeal. An order was entered that contained revised conditions and the TPR warnings. (90:3).

The county filed a petition to terminate Ryan's parental rights in December 2017. The circuit court granted partial summary judgment on the continuing denial of periods of physical placement or visitation ground³ and terminated Ryan's parental rights after a disposition hearing. Ryan appealed, and this court reversed on April 4, 2019, holding that the county failed to meet its burden that it provided Ryan with the required written notice. Jackson County DHS v. R.H.H.Jr. Nos. 2018AP2440, 2018AP2441, 2018AP2442, 2018AP2443, unpublished slip op., (Wis. Ct. App. April 4, 2019) (App.90-94).4

Ryan was then detained on new charges in Dane County, and a single CHIPS order encompassing all the prior orders was entered on October 1, 2019. This new order included conditions and TPR warnings. The conditions for regaining contact with his children included Ryan complete intensive, high-risk sex offender treatment, domestic violence programming, criminal thinking programming, signing releases for the release of information to verify compliance and that Ryan demonstrate an understanding of the effect his incarceration had on his children. (90:3).

³ Hereinafter referred to as the "continuing denial" ground.

⁴ All of the unpublished, authored opinions are cited in this brief for their persuasive value pursuant to Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(3)(b).

Case 2023AP001229 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 8 of 27

On May 12, 2020, the county filed a new TPR petition alleging two grounds: continuing CHIPS and failure to assume parental responsibility. (4). The circuit court later granted the county's August 5, 2022, motion to amend the petition by adding the continuing denial ground. (69; 167:6).

On October 21, 2022, the county filed a motion for partial summary judgment on the continuing denial ground, alleging that there was no genuine issue of material fact. (90). Ryan objected, and the circuit court ordered briefing and held a hearing on the motion. (164).

At the December 2, 2022, hearing, the county argued that the October 1, 2019, order contained both the conditions for resuming contact and the TPR warnings and also that one year had elapsed since that order without modification. (164:4). Ryan argued that the conditions were impossible to meet because they required him to admit to a criminal offense that he not only denied but was actively appealing. (96:3).

The circuit court issued a written order granting the county's motion for partial summary judgment and found Ryan to be an unfit parent. The court rejected Ryan's due process arguments by finding he was not put in an "impossible situation" because Ryan failed to request modification of the CHIPS orders. Further, the circuit court found that Ryan's ongoing appeal "is not relevant" to his meeting the conditions. (103:10-11; App.74-75).

The circuit court terminated Ryan's parental rights to all four of his children following a dispositional hearing. (137, 161; App.29-37).

Case 2023AP001229 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 9 of 27

Ryan appealed from those termination orders and the court of appeals affirmed the termination order. R.H.H., slip op. ¶1. (App.5). The court of appeals rejected both of Ryan's claims. Because the court determined that Ryan failed to meet other conditions for visitation, the court was not persuaded that the condition requiring completion of sex offender treatment violated his substantive due process rights. Id. at ¶35. (App.20). As for his challenge to the admission of a decade-old report at disposition, the court of appeals found that the report was relevant. Id. at ¶52. (App.27).

R.H.H. petitions from that decision.

ARGUMENT

I. This court should accept review and hold that where a parent faces a condition for visitation that is impossible to meet his substantive due process rights have been violated.

A. Introduction and standard of review.

Ryan was found to be an unfit parent based upon the circuit court's conclusion that the county was entitled to summary judgment on the continuing denial ground. (103; App.65-80). That determination cannot stand. The county was not entitled to partial summary judgment because it was impossible for Ryan to satisfy the condition that he successfully complete sex offender treatment when he denied committing an assault. Therefore, terminating his parental rights on this basis violated his right to substantive due process. See 14th Amendment and

Case 2023AP001229 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 10 of 27

Article 1, Sections 1 and 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution. Because it was impossible for Ryan to meet the conditions for return, this court should reverse the summary judgment order.

A parent can raise an as-applied substantive due process challenge to the TPR ground. See Dane County DHS v. P.P., 2005 WI 32, ¶15, 279 Wis.2d 169, 694 N.W.2d 344. Ryan's claim, that the circuit court's application of Wis. Stat. § 48.415(4) to Ryan violated his substantive due process rights, presents a question of law that is reviewed independently by this court. Monroe County D.H.S. v. Kelli B., 2004 WI 48, ¶16, 271 Wis.2d 51, 678 N.W.2d 831. To establish the as applied substantive process claim, due Ryan demonstrate that he has been deprived of a liberty or property interest that is constitutionally protected. Thorp v. Town of Lebanon, 2000 WI 60, ¶46, 235 Wis.2d 610, 612 N.W.2d 59. A parent has the fundamental right to the care and custody of his children, thus, the county may not terminate his right without an individualized determination that the parent is unfit. Kenosha County DHS v. Jodie W., 2006 WI 93, ¶40, 293 Wis.2d 530, 716 N.W.2d 845.

In the context of a summary judgment, this court reviews the case independently, applying the same methodology as the circuit court. *Oneida County DSS v. Nicole W.*, 2007 WI 30, ¶8, 299 Wis.2d 637, 728 N.W.2d 652. This court views the record in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party and draws all reasonable inferences in that party's favor. *Novell v. Migliaccio*, 2010 WI App 67, ¶9, 325 Wis.2d 230, 783 N.W.2d 897.

Case 2023AP001229 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 11 of 27

B. The use of summary judgment in the grounds phase of a termination case.

The legislature has set forth a two-part statutory procedure for cases seeking to involuntarily terminate a parent's rights to his or her child. Sheboygan County DHHS v. Julie A.B., 2002 WI 95, ¶24, 255 Wis.2d 170, 648 N.W.2d 402. In the first, or "grounds" phase of the proceeding, the petitioner must prove by clear and convincing evidence one or more grounds for termination enumerated in Wis. Stat. § 48.415. Wis. Stat. § 48.31(1). If a ground is proven, the court must find the parent unfit. Wis. Stat. § 48.424(4). Julie A.B., 255 Wis.2d 170 ¶26. Then, the case proceeds to the second phase, the dispositional hearing, at which the court determines whether termination is in the best interests of the child. Wis. Stat. § 48.426(2).

At issue here is the first phase of the termination proceeding, during which "the parent's rights are paramount." Julie A.B., 255 Wis.2d 170, ¶24. In that phase, the parent is entitled to a jury trial on the ground alleged to support a conclusion that he is an unfit parent. Wis. Stat. § 48.422(2). However, the supreme court has held that "partial" summary judgment may be granted in the grounds, or "unfitness" phase of a TPR case. Steven V. v. Kelley H., 2004 WI 47, ¶6, 271 Wis.2d 1, 678 N.W.2d 856. The moving party must establish that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact regarding the ground alleged and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Id.

Case 2023AP001229 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 12 of 27

The supreme court noted that some of the grounds for unfitness in Wis. Stat. § 48.415 are "expressly provable by official documentary evidence, such as court orders or judgments of convictions." Id., ¶37. The court listed the continuing denial ground under Wis. Stat. § 48.415(4) as one of the "paper grounds" particularly appropriate for summary judgment. Id. But summary judgment should not be granted when, as is the case here, a condition is impossible for the parent to meet. Jodie W., 293 Wis.2d ¶3. Although the statutory grounds for termination in Ryan's case are different from the grounds in Jodie W., Ryan presents the same constitutional issue in a similar circumstance: whether a finding of unfitness impermissibly burdens the substantive due process rights of an incarcerated parent where it is impossible for the incarcerated parent to meet a condition. The condition that Ryan complete high-risk sex offender treatment despite his assertion of innocence and his ongoing appeal violated his substantive due process rights, thus making Wis. Stat. § 48.415(4) unconstitutional as applied to the facts in Ryan's case.

C. The condition that Ryan complete intensive sex offender treatment was impossible to meet.

In Jodie W., the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that "a parent's failure to fulfill a condition of return due to his or her incarceration, standing alone, is not a constitutional ground for finding a parent unfit...these conclusions are required by the Wisconsin and United States Constitutions, which preclude a state from terminating a parent's fundamental right without an individualized

Case 2023AP001229 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 13 of 27

determination of unfitness." (internal citations omitted) *Jodie W.*, 293 Wis.2d 530, ¶49.

Ryan is in an impossible situation, like Jodie.

The CHIPS order established "conditions for [Ryan] to complete before having any contact with his children." One of those conditions required Ryan to "complete intensive, high-risk sex offender treatment." (emphasis added)(93:50).

The condition that he complete an intensive, high-risk sex offender treatment program put Ryan in an impossible position because Ryan maintained his innocence. The necessary admission of guilt to complete a treatment program would require him to choose from untenable options: (1) admit his guilt in order to complete the intensive, high-risk sex offender treatment, which would result in him incriminating himself, undermining his criminal appeal and also for all practical purposes compromising his parental relationship with his children; or (2) refuse to admit guilt and face termination of his parental rights for not meeting the condition.

In his interrogatories presented as an exhibit at the summary judgment hearing, Ryan articulated these concerns, "if they're trying to do stuff as far as, you know, get me into a program, that would take away my constitutional right to an appeal. No. I won't do that." (93:77-78).

Ryan's commitment to preserving his criminal appeal and maintaining his innocence was warranted by his previous successful litigation. He litigated two cases in the Wisconsin Supreme Court, with one resulting in the reversal of his Clark County

Case 2023AP001229 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 14 of 27

conviction. See State v. Harrison, 2015 WI 5, 360 Wis.2d 246, 858 N.W.2d 372; State v. Harrison, 2020 WI 35, 391 Wis.2d 161, 942 N.W.2d 310. He prevailed on a federal habeas petition in his Ashland County case. See Harrison v. Tegels, 216 F.Supp.3d 956 (W.D. Wis. 2016). He won a reversal of his prior TPR order on appeal in this court. Jackson County DHS v. R.H.H.Jr, Nos. 2018AP2440, 2018AP2441, 2018AP2442, 2018AP2443, unpublished slip op., (Wis. Ct. App. April 4, 2019) (App. 64-68). With this background, it was not unreasonable for Ryan to assess the situation as an impossible Hobson's choice: his freedom/exoneration or his children.

In granting the county's motion for summary judgment, the circuit court held that Ryan was not put in an impossible situation. (103:10; App.74). The circuit court relied on three main points to support its ruling. First, the circuit court found that Ryan should have challenged the condition during the CHIPS proceeding, that Ryan "did not pursue the due process rights he had available to him to address these issues while the order was in place denying physical placement or visitation with his children." The circuit court continued "if [Ryan] is required to accept responsibility for the conviction to successfully complete an intensive high-risk offender treatment program he could have brought that issue to the attention of the CHIPS court to see if the condition could somehow be modified." (103; 10-12; App. 74-76).

There was no affirmative obligation for Ryan to move to modify the CHIPS order. To find otherwise is improper burden shifting. Case 2023AP001229 Petition for Review Filed 12-15-2023 Page 15 of 27

In the CHIPS case, the county is required to provide services tailored to the parent. Sheboygan County DHHS v. Tanya M.B., 2010 WI 55, 325 Wis.2d 524, 785 N.W.2d 369. Pursuant to Jodie W., court-ordered conditions in Wis. Stat. § 48.415(2) must be "tailored to the particular needs of the parent and child." Jodie W. 293 Wis.2d 530, ¶51. The same analysis applies to Wis. Stat. § 48.415(4); it is simply illogical to claim that court-ordered conditions in a CHIPS order must be specifically tailored to the parent when applied to conditions for return but need not be specifically tailored to the parent when applied to court-ordered conditions regarding contact and visitation.

Therefore, the failure in this case lies with the county, not with Ryan, because the county failed to tailor the conditions to Ryan's particular needs. Ryan was incarcerated on a case where he maintained his innocence and where he was pursuing a direct appeal. The county should have tailored the conditions to take these critical facts into account. A simple approach would have been to delete the requirement that Ryan "complete" the program. The circuit court agreed with Ryan's argument that an admission was necessary to successfully complete sex offender treatment in prison. (161:24). But the circuit court found that fact to be unpersuasive, stating "that's to complete it. He could have started it. I've had plenty of offenders that have started sex offender treatment and can't get to that stage, but he could have started it..." *Id*.

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