Filed 01-02-2024

FILED 01-02-2024 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

Case Nos. 2023AP1229; 2023AP1230; 2023AP1231; 2023AP1232

In re the Termination of Parental Rights to: N.H., A.R.H, M.H.H., M.R.M.K., persons under the age of 18:

JACKSON COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES, Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

Case 2023AP001229

R.H.H.,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JERI MARSOLEK **Assistant District Attorney** State Bar No. 1022935

307 Main Street Black River Falls, WI 54615 (715)284-0242 jeri.marsolek@da.wi.gov

Attorney for Petitioner-Respondent

Page 2 of 24

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS IT WAS NOT IMPOSSIBLE FOR RYAN TO MEET THE CONDITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT OF VISITATION.

There is no dispute that the right of a parent to the care, custody and management of their child is protected by the Due Process Clause of the U.S. Constitution. *See, Santosky v. Kramer,* 455 U.S. 745, 753, 102 S. Ct. 1388, 1394-1395, 71 L.Ed.2d 599 (1982). The Wisconsin Supreme Court has also held that a parents' desire for and right to the companionship, care, custody and management of his or her children is an important interest that undeniably warrants deference and, absent a powerful countervailing interest, protection. *Kenosha County Department of Human Services v. Jodie W.*, 2006 WI 93, ¶ 40, 293 Wis. 2d 530, 555, 716 N.W.2d 845, 857. Therefore, any statute that impinges on that right must withstand strict scrutiny. *Id.; Monroe County Department of Human Services v. Kelli B.*, 2004 WI 48 ¶ 17, 271 Wis. 2d 51, 62, 678 N.W.2d 762, 835.

It has been decided that Wis. Stat. § 48.415(4) serves a compelling state interest. *Dane County DHS v. P.P.*, 2005 WI 32 at ¶ 24, 279 Wis. 2d at 183, 694 N.W.2d at 352. The compelling state interest is to protect children from unfit parents. *Kelli B.*, 2004 WI 48 at ¶ 17, 271 Wis. 2d at 62, 678 N.W.2d at 835. This interest has a temporal component, as the legislature recognized the importance of eliminating the need for children to wait unreasonable periods of time for their parents to correct the conditions that prevent their safe return to the family. *Dane County DHS v. P.P.*, 2005 WI 32 ¶ 21, 279 Wis. 2d 169, 182, 694 N.W.2d 344, 351; citing Wis. Stat. §48.01(1)(a).

In this case, Jackson County filed for termination of parental rights under Wis. Stat. § 48.415(4) – Continuing Denial of Periods of Physical

Placement or Visitation. Termination of parental rights on the basis of continued denial of periods of physical placement or visitation must be proven by showing that the parent has been denied placement or visitation by a court order that contained termination of parental rights warnings, and that at least one year has passed since the order denying periods of visitation was issued, without the court subsequently modifying its order to permit periods of visitation. Wis. Stat. § 48.415(4).

Ryan claims that the condition to complete sex offender treatment was impossible for him to achieve due to his right against self-incrimination and that Wis. Stat. § 48.415(4) is therefore unconstitutional as applied to him. His argument is based on the holding of *Kenosha County Department of Human Services v. Jodie W.*, 2006 WI 93, 293 Wis. 2d 530, 716 N.W.2d 845.

In *Jodie W.*, Kenosha County filed a petition for termination of parental rights based upon a continuing need of protection or services (Wis. Stat. § 48.415(2)). The county alleged that Jodie had not met the requirement of obtaining a suitable residence and was unlikely to do so within 12 months solely due to her incarceration. Testimony showed that Jodie had attempted to meet the other conditions for return during her incarceration. Thus, the question before the appellate court was whether a court may find a parent unfit under Wis. Stat. § 48.415(2)(a), based solely upon the parent's failure to meet an impossible condition of return. *Id.*, 2006 WI 93 ¶ 19, 293 Wis. 2d at 543-544, 716 N.W.2d at 852.

The right of substantive due process protects against a state act that is arbitrary, wrong or oppressive, regardless of whether the procedures applied to implement the action were fair. *Jodie W.*, ¶ 39, 293 Wis. 2d at 554, 716 N.W.2d at 857, *citing Dane County DHS v. P.P.*, 2005 WI 32 ¶ 19, 279 Wis. 2d 169, 181, 694 N.W.2d 344, 350-351. In recognition of the temporal component to termination of parental rights cases the court said:

The courts and agencies responsible for child welfare should also recognize that instability and impermanence in family relationships are contrary to the welfare of children and should therefore recognize the importance of eliminating the need for children to wait unreasonable periods of time for their parents to correct the conditions that prevent their safe return to the family.

Jodie W., at ¶ 44, 293 Wis.2d at 557, 716 N.W.2d at 858.

The amount of time a parent is unable to provide for his or her child due to the parent's incarceration can and should be considered by the circuit court. *Id.* While incarceration is relevant, it does not by itself establish that a parent is unfit. *Jodie W.*, at ¶ 48, 293 Wis.2d 559-560, 716 N.W.2d 860. The court went on to say that a parent's failure to fulfill a condition of return due to his or her incarceration, standing alone, is not a constitutional ground for finding a parent unfit. The Wisconsin and United States Constitutions preclude a state from terminating a parent's fundamental right without an individualized determination of unfitness. *Id.*, *citing Stanley v. Illinois*, 405 U.S. 645, 92 S. Ct. 1208, 31 L.Ed.2d 551 (1972).

Ryan argued in the Court of Appeals that in order to complete sex offender treatment he would have to admit to a sex crime and that could jeopardize his appeal of a criminal conviction. The trial court disagreed, finding Ryan was not put into an impossible situation when ordered to complete sex offender treatment:

The Respondent argues that he will lose his due process rights if he is unable to argue his reasons for non-compliance to a jury. He should have pursued these efforts by obtaining alternate assessments or statements from providers to support his position to convince the dispositional judge that the orders should have been changed. He did not do this. He did not pursue the due process rights he had available to him to address these issues while the order was in place denying physical placement or visitation with his children.

R.103:10.

Ryan filed a motion to terminate the denial of visitation order in 2016, which was denied by the CHIPS court. Ryan could have appealed that decision on the basis that the trial court was relying upon an impossible condition for return. Ryan could also have filed a motion to reconsider. Alternatively, Ryan could have filed a motion to terminate the 2019 order denying him visitation. Instead, Ryan did nothing.

The Court of Appeals determined that Ryan's argument of impossibility failed for two reasons. First, Ryan failed to identify evidence in the record to show that he was required to admit to sexual offenses as part of sex offender treatment, and therefore failed to create a genuine dispute of material fact. The court of Appeals noted:

that to survive partial summary judgment, Ryan must identify evidentiary material in the summary judgment record sufficient to show that there is a genuine issue of fact as to this factual premise. However, Ryan failed to identify any such evidentiary material.

Jackson County Department of Human Services v. R.H.H., 2023AP1229; 23AP1230; 23AP1231; 23AP1232 (Wis. Ct. App. November 16, 2023) unpublished slip op. at ¶ 26.

The Court of Appeals noted that Ryan's claim of necessity to admit to sexual offenses was based on an assertion from his trial counsel, which is not evidence. Id. at ¶ 27. The Court found that "an attorney cannot manufacture a factual dispute by making assertions during a summary judgment hearing that are unsupported by the record." Id.

Ryan argues in his Petition for Review that the trial court acknowledged the necessity and therefore direct evidence is not required. The Court of Appeals found that the trial court statement regarding the necessity to admit to sex offenses in sex offender treatment was made at disposition, not during the summary judgment hearing. Therefore, the

statement could not be considered evidence for summary judgment. *Id.* at \P 27-29.

Even if evidence of a requirement to admit to a sex offense had been present in the summary judgment materials, the argument of impossibility still fails. The appeal of Ryan's Ashland County conviction was completed when he pled no contest to causing mental harm to a child.² From the time the Ashland County case was complete (January 11, 2019) until the date Ryan was convicted in the Dane County sexual assault case (November 22, 2019), which began his second criminal case appeal, Ryan could have completed sex offender treatment without any repercussion.

In fact, Ryan could have engaged in sex offender treatment based on the Ashland County conviction at any time after January 11, 2019, because that conviction alone would have proven sufficient to engage in sex offender treatment as ordered by the court. As the trial court in this case noted, "There is no evidence in the record that the Respondent must admit or acknowledge any element in the Dane County conviction in order that he receive the programming that had been previously ordered." R.103:11.

The Court of Appeals found that in contrast to Jodie W., Ryan contends that:

the condition to complete sex offender treatment is impossible for a reason that is not obvious — that an admission would be required. But, there is no evidence in the record that Ryan did not believe he could complete this condition, or even that he believed that the conditions would have negative implications for his appeal.

Jackson County DHS v. R.H.H., November 11, 2023 slip op. at ¶ 34.

Second, the Court of Appeals determined that Ryan's argument failed because *Jodie W.* did not apply to his case. The trial court in Ryan's case

15

.

² The trial court noted that that although Ryan's conviction for child sexual assault in the Ashland County case was overturned, he was not exonerated. R.103:12.

Filed 01-02-2024

found unfitness based on more than just his failure to complete sex offender treatment.

As part of the conditions for reinstatement of visitation, the CHIPS court ordered Ryan to undergo domestic violence training. Despite this, Ryan refused to do so, stating: "[I]t's not something I need whatsoever." R.93:75. The willful refusal to comply with the court order is a factor that the CHIPS court considered: "Compliance with the domestic violence programming would have nothing to do with his appeal, yet he diagnosed himself as not needing that program and did not participate in that program." R.103:11.

Ryan argued in his brief that he had no convictions for domestic violence. However, a lack of conviction does not equate with a lack of domestic violence. The requirement was made based on the recommendations of Dr. Dal Cerro, who performed an assessment of Ryan for purposes of determining whether contact with the children should occur.

Further, the CHIPS order required that Ryan sign releases necessary for DHHS to verify compliance with the conditions. R.93:50. Yet, Ryan refused to sign releases, which the trial court noted. R.161:20, 24. The court order required Ryan to acknowledge and demonstrate an understanding of the effect of his incarceration had on the children. Ryan stated he did not work with a counselor while in prison. Instead, he simply acknowledged that his incarceration affected the children, but could not articulate an understanding of *how* it affected them. R.93:77. All of this evidence in the record distinguishes this case from *Jodie W*.

The Court of Appeals recognized these distinctions. The only fact in common between Ryan and Jodie W. is that the parents were incarcerated when the conditions at issue were established. In Jodie W., the mother was found unfit solely because she had no suitable housing for her children. Other evidence that the mother had completed or made significant progress toward

other attainable conditions was not considered by the trial court. That was not the case for Ryan.

Indeed, the trial court considered other factors which were set forth in *Jodie W.* to be analyzed when reviewing the relevancy of incarceration. These factors include: the parent's relationship to the child. In this case the court found that Ryan has no substantial relationship with his children. R.103:14; App. 52. The court considered the nature of the crime committed. R.103:12-14; App. 50-52. The length and type of sentence imposed, which was for lengthy incarceration. *Id.* The trial court also considered Ryan's lack of cooperation with DHHS, finding that he had not been cooperative. R.103:14; App. 52. And, finally, the trial court considered the best interests of the children. The trial court stated:

[i]t is clear to this Court, after considering all of these factors, which are in addition to the Respondent's lengthy incarceration and failure to comply with the CHIPS court ordered conditions, that the best interests of the children would be to find the Respondent unfit and end the lengthy journey the children have had to endure to achieve permanency.

R.103:15; App. 53.

The children in this case have been in foster care for thirteen years, since October, 2010. The importance of eliminating the need for children to wait unreasonable periods of time for their parents to correct the conditions that prevent their safe return to the family must be considered. Ryan had the ability to litigate the denial of visitation at the trial court level and failed to do so after 2016. Ryan had the ability to engage in, and complete, sex offender treatment following his 2011 conviction in Ashland County and failed to do so. Ryan had the ability to sign releases, engage in domestic violence programming and counseling, but failed to do so. His failures to act should not now be used as a tool against finding permanence for these children.

The facts leading to the trial court's conclusion are not in dispute. There is simply no issue of material fact in this case and partial summary judgment was therefore appropriate and should be affirmed. Should this court disagree, the appropriate remedy is not summary judgment in Ryan's favor as advocated by Ryan. Rather, the appropriate remedy for finding summary judgment should have been denied is remand for further proceedings.

II. THE ADMISSION OF DR. DAL CERRO'S REPORT AT DISPOSITION WAS NOT ERROR AND NO NEW DISPOSITION HEARING SHOULD BE GRANTED.

Although more than one report of Dr. Dal Cerro was admitted into evidence at the disposition hearing, the report at issue is not clearly identified by Ryan. The County presumes the report at issue is the report of the assessment of Ryan.³

"Relevant evidence" means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. Wis. Stat. § 940.01. Factors for the court to consider at disposition in a termination of parental rights case include, but are not limited to:

- (a) The likelihood of the child's adoption after termination.
- (b) The age and health of the child, both at the time of the disposition and, if applicable, at the time the child was removed from the home.
- (c) Whether the child has substantial relationships with the parent or other family members, and whether it would be harmful to the child to sever these relationships.
- (d) The wishes of the child.
- (e) The duration of the separation of the parent from the child.
- (f) Whether the child will be able to enter into a more stable and permanent family relationship as a result of the termination, taking into account the

18

³ Three reports of Dr. Dal Cerro were admitted into evidence at the disposition hearing: a 2013 report of the assessment of the children, a 2013 report of the assessment of Ryan, and the 2016 report of Dal Cerro's suggestions for conditions to be met before attempting to create a relationship between the children and Ryan. R.131; R.132; R.133.

Filed 01-02-2024

conditions of the child's current placement, the likelihood of future placements and the results of prior placements.

Wis. Stat. § 46.426(3).

Case 2023AP001229

The evaluation of Ryan was relevant to the question of whether the children had a substantial relationship with him. Within the assessment report, Dal Cerro provided test results from an MMPI (Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory) and a Psychopathy Checklist – Revised. The trial court specifically ruled that the report was relevant to the factors under Wis. Stat. § 48.426(3)(b). R.161:69.

An appellate court reviews a trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence in a termination of parental rights case under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard. An appellate court will uphold a trial court's decision to admit evidence if the court exercised discretion in accordance with accepted legal standards and the facts of record. In re the Termination of Parental Rights to Teyon D., 2002 WI App. 318 ¶ 19, 259 Wis. 2d 429, 443, 655 N.W.2d 752, 759.

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